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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Today is the

          3  Committee on Juvenile Justice.  I am Honorable Sara

          4  Gonzalez, and my colleague here, Honorable Lew

          5  Fidler.

          6                 Good morning, and welcome to the

          7  Joint Hearing of the Juvenile and Youth Service

          8  Committee.  I am Sara Gonzalez, Chair of the

          9  Juvenile Justice Committee.  Today we will be

         10  discussing the problem of sexually exploited youth

         11  in New York City.  We will explore the programs and

         12  services currently available to these youth and what

         13  more can be done to address their needs and to

         14  prevent exploitation from occurring.

         15                 We also will be considering proposed

         16  Resolution 863, which calls upon New York

         17  legislators to pass the Safe Harbor for Exploited

         18  Children Act, which would create a continuum of

         19  services to address the needs of New York's sexually

         20  exploited children.

         21                 I would like to thank you all for

         22  being here today to discuss this important and

         23  timely issue.  I would also like to especially thank

         24  my colleague and co- chair of today's meeting,

         25  Council Member Fidler for his interest in this issue
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          2  and for his tireless efforts on behalf of the City's

          3  youth.  Thank you.

          4                 Finally, I would like to introduce

          5  and acknowledge my colleagues, who are joining us

          6  for today's meeting, Councilwoman Maria del Carmen

          7  Arroyo, and I believe that they will be leaving us

          8  in a little bit.  We have some budget negotiations

          9  going on.  Not that this Hearing is not significant,

         10  but there's other work that goes on as we go along.

         11                 Sexually exploited youth, generally

         12  defined as youths who engage in sexual acts in

         13  exchange for items such as money, food or shelter,

         14  present an interesting dichotomy.  On the one hand,

         15  those under 17 are victims of statutory rape, and on

         16  the other hand, they are considered criminals or

         17  juvenile delinquents subject to arrest, prosecution

         18  and incarceration.  To date, sexual exploited youth

         19  have been handled more as criminals than as victims

         20  in need of treatment and services.  This trend

         21  appears to be changing as increasing numbers of

         22  exploited youth are identified, and as researchers

         23  are illuminating the many underlying problems and

         24  issues that lead youth to commercial exploitation.

         25                 A recent short- term study conducted
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          2  by the State Office of Children and Family Service

          3  identified over 2,200 sexually exploited youth in

          4  New York City.  National estimates vary widely with

          5  some as low as 100,000 and others as high as three

          6  million.  Disturbingly, the age of entry into

          7  prostitution has been decreasing.  Today the average

          8  age is estimated at 14 with many entering

          9  prostitution as young as 11 or 12 and some as young

         10  as just 9 years old.

         11                 The vast majority of exploited youth

         12  share a common history of abuse, often sexual,

         13  welfare system involvement, poor family support

         14  systems and poverty.  Many child prostitutes

         15  literally run away from a dysfunctional and abusive

         16  family situation and find themselves on the streets

         17  without food or shelter.  They become vulnerable to

         18  the influence of exploitive adults and to engaging

         19  in survival sex.  As such, exploited youth are

         20  desperately in need of a therapeutic environment and

         21  service such as intensive counseling, housing and

         22  assistance with re integration back into society.

         23                 For all of these reasons and more, I

         24  recently introduced proposed Resolution 863 in

         25  support of the Safe Harbor Act.  This Act will go a
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          2  long way towards decriminalizing youth prostitution

          3  and would create a continuum of services such as

          4  safe housing and counseling to address the needs of

          5  exploited youth.  I will now turn the floor over to

          6  my colleague, Council Member Fidler.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER:  Thank you,

          8  Chairwoman Gonzalez, and I want to thank you for all

          9  the work that you have done in this area.  You know,

         10  I guess it's the job of the Youth Services Committee

         11  in the ideal world to put the Juvenile Justice

         12  Committee out of business.  We're far from getting

         13  there, but we're working on it.

         14                 As Chairwoman Gonzalez mentioned,

         15  your attendance here today is hampered by the fact

         16  that we are working on the City budget, and I'm sure

         17  you all know that one of the things on the table is

         18  youth services, and particularly funding for runaway

         19  and homeless youth, of which this is certainly a

         20  significant element of the population.  So I will

         21  be, as much as I hate doing this, because, quite

         22  frankly, this is a hearing topic that I first had

         23  the Youth Services staff start working on over two

         24  years ago because I felt it was such a compelling

         25  issue, that I will have to duck out of here and
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          2  leave Chairwoman Gonzalez to her own devices. I know

          3  that Council Member Mark-Viverito popped in here.

          4  She's also running downstairs to budget negotiating

          5  as well, and I apologize for that, and I can see by

          6  the large crowd that we have here today that we

          7  have, in fact, hit upon an issue that is

          8  extraordinarily important.

          9                 I am also very pleased to be a co-

         10  sponsor of Councilwoman Gonzalez's Resolution, which

         11  will not be voted on today, but hopefully we will be

         12  shedding a spotlight on this important subject, and

         13  we can see some movement on that from our colleagues

         14  in government.

         15                 The Safe Harbor for Exploited

         16  Children's Act that I just referred to, recognizes

         17  that victims of the sex trade are just that, they

         18  are victims, and that prosecuting sexually exploited

         19  children, both traumatizes them and makes the

         20  process of having them leave the streets that much

         21  more difficult.

         22                 Regarding this vulnerable population,

         23  we need not re- invent the wheel.  Extensive

         24  research already indicates that the best way to

         25  provide services to youth who are sexually exploited
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          2  is through a comprehensive continuum of care with

          3  coordinated and victim- specific support services.

          4  Today's Hearing will examine how well what we know

          5  is being implemented where it counts.  I'd like to

          6  take that sentence back, but I'm not sure what I

          7  want to say.

          8                 The DYCD runaway and homeless youth

          9  portfolio of services includes drop- in centers,

         10  crisis shelters and Transitional Independent Living

         11  programs known as TILS, which provide other homeless

         12  youth with the training and skills necessary to

         13  prepare them for an independent and self- sustaining

         14  productive life.

         15                 We also note that a significant

         16  number of particularly vulnerable youth are from the

         17  LGBTQ communities. Through psych visits, the Youth

         18  Services Committee has been able to observe in

         19  person, for example, the Ali Forney Center.  We have

         20  also been able to follow the excellent work being

         21  done by the providers who run DYCD's drop- in

         22  centers where specialized professionals provide

         23  youth and their families with counseling.

         24                 Despite these successes, an awful lot

         25  more work needs to be done.  Exploited youth are
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          2  desperately in need of therapeutic environmental

          3  services to remove them from their often dire

          4  circumstances.  We must remain vigilant, not to

          5  criminalize the conduct of these exploited youth

          6  because the bottom line is they are victims.  What

          7  we as a society do for their benefit may be their

          8  last best hope for achieving stability and physical

          9  safety, and all the other things who we as parents

         10  strive to provide for all of our children, that

         11  which is a fair shot at achieving productive and

         12  happy lives.  No one deserves any less.

         13                 I'll turn the mic back over to

         14  Chairwoman Gonzalez. Again, as I said, I'll be

         15  popping in and out.  We've been joined by Council

         16  Member Martinez, who has again, the same obligation

         17  to be at budget negotiating, and he, I'm sure, will

         18  be coming and going as well.  So, Chairwoman, thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you,

         21  Councilman Fidler and Chair of the Youth Committee.

         22  As we said earlier, a lot of our colleagues are

         23  here, but there's a significant process going on

         24  today, and that's budget, so though they want to be

         25  here, they're not, so we will continue on.  Thank

                                                            11

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND YOUTH SERVICES

          2  you.  Nitza Monges is at the table, and Robyn

          3  Causey.  Nitza is from DYCD, and also Robyn Causey,

          4  Director of Youth Initiative.  State your name for

          5  the record.  Thank you.

          6                 MS. MONGES:  Good morning.  Again, my

          7  name is Nitza Monges, Special Advisor on Vulnerable

          8  Youth Initiatives.

          9                 MS. CAUSEY:  Good morning.  I'm Robyn

         10  Causey, Director of Youth Initiatives from the

         11  Department of Youth and Community Development.  Good

         12  morning, Chairpersons Fidler and Gonzalez and

         13  Members of the Council.  I am Robyn Causey, Director

         14  of Youth Initiatives at the New York City Department

         15  of Youth and Community Development, DYCD.  I am

         16  joined by Nitza Monges, Special Advisor of

         17  Vulnerable and Special Needs Youth.  On behalf of

         18  Commissioner Jeanne B. Mullgrav, thank you for this

         19  opportunity to discuss DYCD services to assist

         20  sexually exploited youth in New York City.

         21                 DYCD is proud to work with other City

         22  agencies to address the needs of New York City's

         23  most vulnerable young people. With support from the

         24  City Council, we have raised awareness and

         25  strengthened the City services to at- risk, runaway
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          2  and homeless youth.

          3                 DYCD is committed to protecting and

          4  assisting our City's vulnerable and at- risk youth

          5  and, whenever possible, reuniting them with their

          6  families.  In cases where reunification is not

          7  possible, our programs help youth progress from

          8  crisis to transitional care and independent living.

          9                 Let me begin with the story of Nancy

         10  who has struggled for years with her mother's

         11  ongoing health issues and alcoholism and dangerous

         12  family dynamics with her older brothers. Nancy

         13  always felt responsible for caring for her mother,

         14  but when her brothers' drug use started to overrun

         15  their home, Nancy ran away.  Nancy traded sex for

         16  places to stay.  She learned about Girls Educational

         17  & Mentoring Services, GEMS, a program for young

         18  women who have experienced sexual exploitation and

         19  abusive relationships.  She moved into crisis

         20  housing and eventually transitioned into the GEMS

         21  TIL program.  Nancy has made great strides including

         22  returning to high school where she will graduate

         23  this month.  She applied to college with hopes of

         24  enrolling this fall.  This summer Nancy will be

         25  applied through DYCD summer youth employment
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          2  program.

          3                 This story demonstrates the many

          4  factors that lead to homelessness among youth

          5  including poor family relationships, neglect,

          6  physical abuse, substance abuse, sexual orientation

          7  and sexual abuse.  Many adolescents who run away are

          8  forced out of their homes and have a variety of

          9  health and mental health needs before they become

         10  homeless.

         11                 Once homeless, youth are at increased

         12  risk for physical abuse, exploitation, including

         13  survival sex and prostitution and violent

         14  victimization.

         15                 To respond to the divergent needs of

         16  runaway youth, DYCD re- evaluated its existing

         17  runaway and homeless youth programs. Last July, the

         18  agency implemented a new continuum of service model

         19  that better serves the varied needs and issues

         20  facing runaway and homeless youth.

         21                 In particular, DYCD made a concerted

         22  effort to expand and diversify the service providers

         23  in the RHY system.  DYCD worked closely with the New

         24  York State Office of Children and Family Services to

         25  certify new residential service providers, which
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          2  enabled them to receive public funding.  Over the

          3  past 15 months, seven new organizations have been

          4  added to DYCD's RHY initiative. Along with these,

          5  all of DYCD's RHY organizations provide services for

          6  sexually exploited youth, as well as other

          7  vulnerable populations such as pregnant and

          8  parenting youth and lesbian, gay, bisexual,

          9  transgender and questioning youth.

         10                 DYCD is pleased with the progress

         11  that we have made toward diversifying residential

         12  services for runaway and homeless youth.  Included

         13  in the group of newly state certified residential

         14  providers is GEMS, which I spoke about earlier in my

         15  testimony. Through referrals from our crisis

         16  shelters, the GEMS TIL program provides housing and

         17  services for young women.  To raise awareness of

         18  this issue of sexually exploited youth, DYCD is

         19  working with public agencies and service providers,

         20  including GEMS, to conduct outreach and give

         21  presentations on DYCD RHY services.

         22                 For example, last week GEMS made a

         23  presentation to DYCD's Youth Board/Youth Council

         24  members.  They participated on a panel discussion,

         25  which included information on their services and how
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          2  these services benefit the needs of the young people

          3  in their care.

          4                 In addition to outreach and

          5  presentations, DYCD disseminates published materials

          6  and prominently displays posters at all of our RHY

          7  facilities informing individuals of DYCD services

          8  and providing contact information for questions and

          9  concerns, including 311 and DYCD youth line, which

         10  also serves as an RHY hotline.

         11                 Now allow me to describe the

         12  continuum of services for runaway and homeless youth

         13  when they enter the DYCD funded system.  The

         14  coordinated model includes straight outreach and

         15  transportation services, a drop- in center in each

         16  borough, emergency shelters, transitional

         17  residential facilities and an RHY hotline.

         18                 Citywide Street Outreach and Referral

         19  Services provide vehicle- based assistance to youth

         20  living on the streets. DYCD funds two street

         21  outreach vans that operate throughout the City,

         22  seven days a week between the hours of 9 p.m. and 5

         23  a.m. Each outreach vehicle is staffed with a minimum

         24  of two trained outreach workers.  Services are

         25  focused on areas where youth are known to congregate
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          2  at night, including areas where prostitution is

          3  prevalent.  Requests for street outreach

          4  transportation are also accessible by calling 311

          5  and DYCD's youth line.  The outreach workers

          6  distribute information on RHY services, provide

          7  resources, materials and referrals and transport you

          8  to safe environments, including back to their homes

          9  or a DYCD crisis shelter.

         10                 DYCD has drop- in centers in all five

         11  boroughs. Trained social workers provide young

         12  people and their families counseling and referral

         13  services.  These centers are open seven days a week

         14  from 9 a.m. to 9 p.m. and help vulnerable young

         15  people who may not be prepared to seek shelter and

         16  access services.

         17                 Another component of DYCD's RHY

         18  system is residential services, which consists of

         19  crisis shelters and the transitional independent

         20  living programs.  In FY 2007, DYCD increased the

         21  capacity of residential beds to 188 and the number

         22  of facilities to twelve.

         23                 The crisis shelters are the entry

         24  point for residential services in DYCD's RHY system.

         25    These voluntary, short term residential programs
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          2  provide emergency shelter and crisis intervention

          3  services.  In FY 2007, with the support from the

          4  City Council, DYCD funds 88 shelter beds in four

          5  shelter facilities. These crisis shelters provide

          6  young people with an array of support services

          7  including counseling, individualized service plans,

          8  meals and educational assistance.  If appropriate,

          9  the trained staff will assist these young people

         10  with reuniting with their families or with moving

         11  into a transitional and long- term living program.

         12                 The Transitional Independent Living

         13  programs provide homeless youth under 21 years of

         14  age with the training and skills necessary to

         15  establish a self- sufficient life.  At a TIL

         16  program, youth receive educational services,

         17  vocational training, job placement assistance,

         18  counseling and basic life skills training.

         19  Counselors also work with young people to help them

         20  transition to independent living following their

         21  stay at the facility.  DYCD funds 103 TIL beds at

         22  eight facilities for youth who have transitioned

         23  from our crisis shelters.

         24                 Aside from DYCD's RHY services,

         25  DYCD's Nitza Monges, chairs a work group under the
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          2  Interagency Coordinating Council on Youth.  The

          3  ICC's court- involved work group is charged with

          4  developing and strengthening interagency

          5  collaborations and partnerships to improve the

          6  effectiveness and quality of services rendered to

          7  court- involved youth and their families.  The work

          8  group is comprised of representatives from the

          9  Administration for Children's Services, the Brooklyn

         10  Public Library, the Center for Court Innovation, the

         11  Department for the Aging, the Department of

         12  Correction, Department of Education, Department of

         13  Health and Mental Hygiene, Department of Homeless

         14  Services, Department of Juvenile Justice, Department

         15  of Probation, Deputy Mayor Dennis Walcott, Human

         16  Resources Administration, Mayor's Office of the

         17  Criminal Justice Coordinator, Legal Aid Society,

         18  Midtown Community Court, NYC Family Court, NYC Voter

         19  Assistance Commission, the New York Public Library,

         20  OCFS and the Juvenile Justice Project.

         21                 DYCD also participates on the

         22  Coalition against the Sexual Exploitation of

         23  Children Taskforce, led by the Mayor's Office of the

         24  Criminal Justice Coordinator.  Some significant

         25  results of this partnership include the
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          2  recommendation that sexually exploited youth be

          3  included in DYCD's 2005 RHY service request for

          4  proposals, heightened awareness of this issue,

          5  including presentations and workshops by industry

          6  experts for DYCD service providers and technical

          7  assistance and training for specialized service

          8  providers on RHY requirements and regulations.

          9                 DYCD is pleased to play a critical

         10  role in addressing the needs of youth who are

         11  sexually exploited or at risk.  We welcome the

         12  opportunities to work with our service providers,

         13  public agencies and elected representatives to

         14  protect our youth and help them lead healthy lives.

         15                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         16  highlight DYCD's services to assist sexually

         17  exploited youth.  We are pleased to answer any

         18  questions that you may have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER:  Thank you, and,

         20  as always, I want to thank DYCD for their

         21  demonstrated commitment in this particular area.

         22  Before I run down to budget negotiation, I really

         23  just wanted to examine one aspect of this problem.

         24                 When someone who is say, 14 years old

         25  gets picked up by NYPD and charged with prostituting
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          2  themselves on the street, does that trigger any sort

          3  of process other than prosecution?

          4                 MS. MONGES:  Well, my understanding

          5  is that the process varies depending on the

          6  situation.  I'm not really the expert, but it really

          7  should be the NYPD, but I would assume that what

          8  they would do is try and contact the parents and

          9  then a decision would be made whether or not this

         10  child is going to be charged.  But, quite frankly, I

         11  would assume it really depends on the situation.

         12  Because I know that there is a project in Queens

         13  where the NYPD will work with the DA's office to try

         14  and offer the child alternatives to a detention or

         15  to a prosecution and to get them into a safe haven.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER:  Well, shouldn't

         17  there be a systematic intervention?  If sitting

         18  across this table we're acknowledging that anyone

         19  who is forced to prostitute themselves at that young

         20  age is, per se, a victim, absolutely that is my

         21  view. I think that's probably your view.  I mean,

         22  they haven't reached the age of consent.  They're

         23  not fully responsible, and if they're out there on

         24  the street doing that at that age, there has to be a

         25  superseding causal factor, and should there not be
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          2  an automatic intervention to assess whether or not

          3  that young person has a home? Why they're on the

          4  street?  What social services are needed rather than

          5  putting them in a juvenile detention facility, or

          6  worse?  If they're a little bit older, they might

          7  wind up someplace worse. Should there not be some

          8  kind of mechanism right now that even trumps NYPD?

          9  I mean, instead of looking at this as a criminal

         10  circumstance, looking at this as a social services

         11  problem.

         12                 MS. CAUSEY:  One of the pieces of the

         13  continuum in the runaway and homeless youth project

         14  that DYCD funds is that we have two straight

         15  outreach teams that patrol the streets of New York

         16  City from 9 p.m. to 9 a.m.  What they do, they are

         17  trained to look for any young people who are outside

         18  during that time, and they do complete assessments

         19  on those young people.

         20                 One of the things that we know about

         21  sexually exploited youth is that it takes a long

         22  time to develop relationships with them, so that

         23  they feel comfortable coming off of the street.  So

         24  our straight outreach teams being there day after

         25  day, night after night, start to establish
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          2  relationships with these young people, and we

          3  encourage them to seek a safe refuge. However, all

          4  of the programs in our portfolio are voluntary

          5  programs, so we can't make young people come off the

          6  street However, we do start to build those

          7  relationships, try to make referrals to other

          8  services that we have and encourage them to come

          9  off.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I accept that

         11  answer, and, as you know, I think the street

         12  outreach efforts that you make are fabulous.  The

         13  other circumstance, other than developing a long

         14  term trusting relationship that might encourage

         15  someone to voluntarily come off the street is

         16  perhaps the traumatic experience of being arrested

         17  and thrown into a prison cell.  That might also

         18  trigger a willingness to develop the kind of

         19  dialogues, if there is an immediate intervention

         20  when that happens.  My suspicion is that NYPD is not

         21  charged with, and does not, automatically let social

         22  services agencies know that they have picked up a 14

         23  year old on the streets prostituting themselves.  Am

         24  I wrong about that to your knowledge, or am I just

         25  asking the wrong people?
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          2                 MS. CAUSEY:  We're not aware of the

          3  policies of NYPD.  We wouldn't know what they do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I would

          5  imagine that in the course of asking arrest

          6  information, they may find someone does not have a

          7  home address or probably more likely they're given

          8  fictitious information by the person who they've

          9  arrested.

         10                 I would think, and I'm not faulting

         11  you, the fact that you don't know the answer is an

         12  indication that there clearly is not a dialogue

         13  between NYPD and the City's primary social service

         14  agencies that take care of these kids.  There ought

         15  to be, in my view, an automatic response that when

         16  they, first of all assuming that they recognize that

         17  the person is of that tender age, because I imagine

         18  there's a great deal of lying about the age.  I

         19  mean, they get arrested as well, but when they're

         20  able to identify that circumstance, there ought to

         21  be an automatic referral to the appropriate social

         22  service agencies, to the appropriate social services

         23  response that will parallel the criminal justice

         24  system.             I mean, the one thing we know is

         25  that when the NYPD picks them up, they're going to
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          2  be referred to the District Attorneys.  Maybe that's

          3  the point at which there has to be some kind of

          4  automatic response, and I would like to engage in

          5  that dialogue with NYPD and DYCD and any other

          6  agency that, maybe the Youth Criminal Coordinator

          7  and the District Attorneys, to see if we can't get

          8  that happening, which I think is something that

          9  should be happening.

         10                 MS. MONGES:  If I may add, Council

         11  Member, I believe that last week the Governor signed

         12  a bill that basically my understanding of it, we had

         13  one of the attorneys from the Mayor's Office of the

         14  Criminal Justice Coordinator's Office basically went

         15  over some of the finer details of that bill.

         16  Basically, what it does is that it did de- victimize

         17  the prostitution piece of it, but they were just

         18  looking at it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Was that the

         20  human trafficking bill?

         21                 MS. MONGES:  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Something

         23  that we in the Council have been asking and hoping

         24  that they would do for some time, and certainly

         25  applaud, but of course, the bill comes along with no
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          2  funding and no processes for taking care of the

          3  victims. I mean, we've made progress.  We now are at

          4  least acknowledging that they are victims.  Now we

          5  need to do something to help them because they are

          6  victims.  So think it's baby steps, but better than

          7  no steps.  But we need to move this dialogue

          8  forward, and I look forward to working with the DYCD

          9  and the other agencies in trying to make a

         10  systematic change so that these children wind up in

         11  an appropriate system of referral.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you,

         13  Councilman Fidler. I want to ask you in respect to

         14  your street outreach team, if we could just get back

         15  to that a little because even what my colleague just

         16  stated in reference to a young person that is

         17  probably going to be arrested, is there any

         18  possibility of intervention from this end?  What

         19  exactly happens with the outreach team, if you could

         20  just elaborate a little bit on that?

         21                 MS. CAUSEY:  Our straight outreach

         22  team is a team of four.  They start patrolling the

         23  streets at 9 p.m.  Our drop-in centers are open from

         24  9 a.m. to 9 p.m.  So when those drop in centers

         25  close, we wanted to make sure that we had a
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          2  continuum of services available for young people, so

          3  at 9 p.m. We actually have vans that are aware and

          4  are experts in knowing where young people congregate

          5  that are homeless or who may be involved in this

          6  type of exploitation.  So what they do is they are

          7  in these areas.  They give out information, they let

          8  them know that they are from DYCD, that there are

          9  services available.  They try to address the

         10  immediate needs of not leaving the young person in

         11  the street.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  That's in the

         13  hopes of them not getting arrested?

         14                 MS. CAUSEY:  Right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  You're doing

         16  intervention.

         17                 MS. CAUSEY:  Absolutely.  We are

         18  actually out there trying to get young people to

         19  volunteer to come off of the streets because all of

         20  our programs are voluntary programs.  They're not

         21  mandated programs.  Young people in our portfolio

         22  are free to come and go, but we have in this new

         23  cycle of runaway and homeless youth services we have

         24  required that there are licensed social workers and

         25  directors in all of our programs, including straight

                                                            27

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND YOUTH SERVICES

          2  outreach. These social workers are trained to assess

          3  the needs of the young people that they come in

          4  contact with.

          5                 We know from dealing with this

          6  population that sometimes it can take several weeks,

          7  months, just to get them to develop or establish a

          8  relationship with us because they are under the

          9  control of someone else.  So we work very hard day

         10  in and day out, seven days a week, to try to

         11  establish these relationships and encourage these

         12  young people to come in our facilities.  At the same

         13  time, we do educate them and let them know the risk

         14  of not making that choice to come into a certified

         15  facility.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  What is the

         17  time frame for this intervention?  I mean, they go

         18  out into the streets, they meet this young person,

         19  is there like a period of time, or do you -- that's

         20  the part I'm losing here.

         21                 MS. CAUSEY:  It can vary.  It depends

         22  on the young person themselves.  It depends on the

         23  individual needs of the young person, which is why

         24  we have social workers, and we set up individualized

         25  service plans with all young people.  So all young
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          2  people in all of our facilities are required to have

          3  what we call an individualized service plan, which

          4  they make up long- term and short- term goals, and

          5  we help them get to those goals.  It may not be that

          6  the young person is ready to come off of the street.

          7  However, we might encourage them to go into the

          8  drop- in center in the day time.  It would just

          9  depend on the young person and where they are at

         10  that point.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I would just

         12  like to, as well as my colleague just stated,

         13  Councilman Fidler, to just maybe explore a

         14  collaboration between NYPD and DYCD.

         15                 I just want to share a little bit, as

         16  brief as I can, in the 80's I was part of doing a

         17  lot of outreach in my district, and we had a big

         18  problem of prostitution.  It was adult prostitution,

         19  but it was prostitution.  We had approximately 210

         20  prostitutes within a certain area, so I worked very

         21  closely with the police, and we went out in a van.

         22  What we did in that situation was to bring a lot of

         23  information to them, especially about HIV/AIDs and

         24  what not, but we were able to reach them before they

         25  were arrested.  So the police department was able to
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          2  assist and respect to that where they didn't feel

          3  threatened, so they were able to get information

          4  and, quite honestly, at least 20 or 25 of them came

          5  full circle, so that meant they went into detox and

          6  the whole thing.  So I think that's really

          7  important.

          8                 Maybe if we could, the

          9  Administration, meaning DYCD either extend their

         10  program somehow.  We're talking about the future,

         11  but just explore that and even meeting with the New

         12  York Police Department because you have to know the

         13  legal part of it, especially dealing with a young

         14  person that's under age.  So that's something that

         15  we should explore.

         16                 DYCD's Transitional Independent

         17  Living program, this is the one you were talking

         18  about, serves homeless youths from age 16 to 21

         19  years of age.  If a sexually exploited youth is

         20  under 16 years old, where can he or she go, and what

         21  services are available? That's the part that I think

         22  we're talking about right now.  What happens to that

         23  person?

         24                 MS. CAUSEY:  In our crisis facilities

         25  there can be young persons under the age of 18 years
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          2  old, and what we would do with someone who's not old

          3  enough to enter a Transitional Independent Living

          4  program, is we would still work on family

          5  reunification if that was possible, and, if not, we

          6  have ACS workers in our crisis facilities who would

          7  also look at what were the dynamics that led this

          8  young person to be runaway or homeless.

          9                 So primary for us is what us

         10  assessing what led a young person to runaway from

         11  home in the beginning.  If there was abuse in the

         12  home, if a person was being abused, that case would

         13  be reported to the Administration for Children's

         14  Services, and ACS would retain custody or seek

         15  custody of that young person so that they would be

         16  in a safe place.  If not, the young person we would

         17  work towards mediation between a family member and

         18  that young person.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  The majority

         20  of services and resources currently available for

         21  sexually exploited youth seem to be for female

         22  victims.  What services are available for sexually

         23  exploited males, transgender youth or even LGBT,

         24  which you spoke about a little bit?  But you could

         25  just elaborate a little bit on that now, thank you.
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          2                 MS. CAUSEY:  Sure.  Again, as I

          3  mentioned earlier, all of the programs for DYCD, the

          4  primary presenting problem or the reason that a

          5  young person would enter one of our runaway and

          6  homeless youth programs is either, A they're a

          7  runaway or B, they're homeless, or it could be both.

          8    So that is the primary problem for us.

          9                 Once that young person enters any

         10  program that we have, crisis or TIL, we would start

         11  to look at what the secondary problems are.  So for

         12  us, it would be what led you to be in homeless?  And

         13  a young person could be sexually exploited and

         14  however want to go into a another program, a

         15  parenting program if they had a child.  So we just

         16  work with that individual to set up an

         17  individualized service plan, look at what their

         18  goals are, help them to create healthy goals, and

         19  then we would move them through our system.  So all

         20  of our programs could potentially have sexually

         21  exploited victims, male and female, in those

         22  programs.  As mentioned in the testimony, Nancy is

         23  also going to be participating in the summer youth

         24  employment program, so in all of DYCD's programs

         25  this population could potentially be seen in any of
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          2  those programs.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

          4  DYCD is a member of the Interagency Coordinating

          5  Council, ICC, court- involved youth work group.

          6  What topics as the group recently discussed relating

          7  to sexually exploited youth?

          8                 MS. MONGES:  Essentially, we've not

          9  discussed sexually exploited youth because we target

         10  all youth in New York City, and what we've done

         11  basically is it's been a work group that's been in

         12  existence I believe for the past two years.  What we

         13  basically did was to bring together the various

         14  agencies and to talk about issues of court- involved

         15  youth.  Our main focus has been to bring together

         16  our agencies and to see where we can collaborate

         17  together to strengthen what needs to be strengthened

         18  in terms of service delivery.

         19                 MS. CAUSEY:  And if I could just add,

         20  in terms of discussing this issue with other

         21  providers, in our first runaway and homeless youth

         22  conference two years ago we had special

         23  presentations on this issue of sexually exploited

         24  youth.  From GEMS, we asked GEMS to come in and do a

         25  training with all of our providers, and we had close
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          2  to 300 participants.  As recently as last week, the

          3  Youth Board and Youth Council did receive a

          4  presentation from GEMS so that we could discuss

          5  moving forward with this population and the

          6  dynamics.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Right, and

          8  that's exactly what I want to hear.  I want for us

          9  to be able to explore how we can move forward

         10  because you know when a child or a young person is

         11  being sexually exploited, a lot of times in a group

         12  or in a session or whatever it is, they're not going

         13  to just open up.  I mean, there's a shame factor

         14  there, so it is important that we look for methods

         15  and ways through these topics to either bring

         16  trained individuals or people that can, or even

         17  refer them to agencies, whether it's social service,

         18  hospitals or maybe even CBO's that can work with

         19  this population.

         20                 MS. MONGES:  If I may just clarify

         21  one of the reasons why you're thinking, well, it's

         22  the court- involved youth group.  All of the members

         23  of that committee, of that work group, are also

         24  members of the Task Force of the Criminal Justice

         25  Coordinator that basically whose focus has been, and
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          2  which I am the agency's representative of, sexually

          3  exploited youth.  So our support and our

          4  conversations have basically been at the Office of

          5  the Criminal Justice Coordinator to provide the

          6  technical assistance.  And NYPD is on that, the

          7  various DA's offices, the FBI, so that's where that

          8  conversation about sexually exploitation has

          9  occurred, and that led to our including in our,

         10  which is indicated in the testimony that Robyn just

         11  gave, why we include it in our RHYRFP the fact that

         12  we wanted to target programs that would provide

         13  services to specialized populations, including

         14  sexually exploited youngsters.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Studies have

         16  shown that sexually exploited youth are more at risk

         17  for sexually transmitted diseases and drug abuse.

         18  How do your programs address the specialized health

         19  needs of sexually exploited youth, which is sort of

         20  a trickling effect of a problem that is going to be

         21  impacted by other problems?

         22                 MS. CAUSEY:  All of our straight

         23  outreach teams give out information on HIV and AIDS,

         24  condoms.  We provide all of our drop- in centers,

         25  part of their contract is that they conduct
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          2  workshops in schools and do training.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Is the

          4  information educational, or just information

          5  literature?

          6                 MS. CAUSEY:  It's both.  We do

          7  education as well. One of the requirements from the

          8  state regulation requires that all young people

          9  entering residential facilities are told about HIV

         10  and AIDS, and they actually have to go through

         11  training.  All of our workers in all of the

         12  facilities have to have a minimum of 40 hours of

         13  training per year.  Every worker in every facility

         14  in every program, and part of that training is HIV

         15  and AIDS.  We also offer testing.  I chair the

         16  Runaway and Homeless Youth Advisory Committee.  We

         17  have trainings on that every year.  We have people

         18  who come in and train our providers and also offer

         19  free testing. It's ongoing education, services,

         20  counseling, as well as our providers would be more

         21  than willing to escort any of our young people to be

         22  tested.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, you kind

         24  of answered my next question with respect to

         25  technical assistance and training for contracting
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          2  agencies, so basically you're prepared to be able to

          3  do that for providers.  So if a provider doesn't

          4  have that expertise to the extent, you guys are

          5  prepared to do that?

          6                 MS. CAUSEY:  Absolutely.  DYCD has a

          7  technical, we have our own technical assistance

          8  department, so our providers can receive specialized

          9  trainings individually by a provider, and those

         10  trainings are free, as well as, as I just mentioned,

         11  I chair the Runaway and Homeless Youth Advisory

         12  Committee, and that Committee meets monthly with all

         13  providers being required to attend, and there's

         14  always trainings every month in those meetings, as

         15  well as DYCD generally host and runaway and homeless

         16  youth conference every year where we have experts

         17  come in, and this year DYCD is, my supervisor,

         18  Assistant Commissioner Susan Haskowitz (phonetic) is

         19  co- chairing for a major conference that will take

         20  place in the City in October.  So we have ongoing

         21  trainings for our providers.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Well, thank

         23  you.  Well, I think that's it for this panel.  I

         24  just want to say that my Resolution 863 calling on

         25  the New York State Assembly and the New York State
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          2  Senate to pass a Safe Harbor for Exploited Children

          3  Act, hopefully will create a continuum of service to

          4  address the needs of New York City's sexually

          5  exploited children, and we have to be ready to step

          6  to the plate, and I thank you for all the work that

          7  you guys do.

          8                 MS. CAUSEY:  Thank you.

          9                 MS. MONGES:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Could you

         11  please step to the table, Mishi Faruqee,

         12  Correctional Association, how are you?  And Nancy

         13  Rosenblum, Katherine Mullen, Legal Aid Society,

         14  thank you. I just want to say for those of you that

         15  weren't here before, a lot of my colleagues are in

         16  budget negotiations.  It's not that they've

         17  abandoned us.  This is a very, very significant

         18  issue for the children of the City of New York, so I

         19  just want you to understand that they're here in the

         20  building.  Some of them will be popping in as we go

         21  along.  Thank you.  You may continue.  State your

         22  name for the record.

         23                 MS. MULLEN:  Thank you, my name is

         24  Katherine Mullen. I'm an attorney with the Legal Aid

         25  Society of New York City.  Nancy Rosenblum is not
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          2  able to be here this morning, but I'd like to thank

          3  you, Chairman Gonzalez and all the Members of the

          4  City Council who have shown such an interest in the

          5  issue of commercially sexually exploited youth of

          6  New York City.

          7                 As the Council has already stated,

          8  the commercial and sexual exploitation of children

          9  is a rapidly growing problem which does affect

         10  thousands of children in New York State.  A recent

         11  report on the prevalence of commercially sexually

         12  exploited children in New York State estimated that

         13  there are at least 3,000 children who are the

         14  victims of sexual exploitation.  Although this

         15  number fails to include countless other sexually

         16  exploited youth because of the methodology used and

         17  the short time frame of the study, it does begin to

         18  quantify the scope of this problem.

         19                 Legal Aid's juvenile rights practice

         20  represents as attorneys many of the children who

         21  have been the victims of commercial and sexual

         22  exploitation in all types of Family Court

         23  proceedings.  We are the largest child advocacy

         24  group in New York State and represent children in

         25  child protective proceedings, persons in need of
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          2  supervision proceedings, and juvenile delinquency

          3  proceedings in all five boroughs.  Legal Aid's

          4  criminal practice division represents youth aged 16

          5  and older who are charged with crimes in New York

          6  City.

          7                 Children who have been prostituted

          8  may appear in Family Court as subject children in

          9  child protective proceedings, as persons in need of

         10  supervision or in juvenile delinquency or criminal

         11  proceedings.

         12                 What they frequently share in common

         13  is a history of having been sexually abused as a

         14  child, having been involved in the child welfare

         15  system, poor family support systems and poverty.

         16  These young victims of sexual abuse who have been

         17  exploited by adults who are not their parents do not

         18  fit within the current structure of the New York

         19  Family Court Act.  The existing laws in New York

         20  State are woefully inadequate in terms of protecting

         21  these vulnerable children.

         22                 The Safe Harbor Act will expand the

         23  jurisdiction of the Family Court by adding a new

         24  category of sexually exploited youth to the

         25  definition of a person in need of supervision.  It
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          2  requires that New York State create safe lodging for

          3  these young victims, and through the PINS proceeding

          4  youth under the age of 18 will be able to access a

          5  full panoply of services, including 24 hour a day

          6  crisis counseling, therapy, medical attention and an

          7  advocate who is available to them throughout Family

          8  Court proceedings and any criminal prosecutions and

          9  any criminal prosecutions of pimps and johns.  It

         10  creates long- term treatment options, including a

         11  residential facility that will be specifically

         12  designed to help these young people overcome a long

         13  history of sexual abuse and provide counseling,

         14  mentoring and educational development.

         15                 As everyone is aware, there has been

         16  significant media attention to the problem of human

         17  trafficking, and the term human trafficking conjures

         18  up images of young women and children who are

         19  smuggled in from other countries and forced into

         20  prostitution by the people who have brought them

         21  here.  But a child who is born in New York State and

         22  forced to prostitute herself by a pimp is equally a

         23  victim.  The child who is born in Brooklyn or Albany

         24  who is solicited by a pimp, induced into a

         25  relationship based on false promises of love, and
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          2  forced through fear and physical violence into a

          3  life of prostitution, is quite similar to a child

          4  born in a foreign country who is brought to the

          5  United States and forced to work in a brothel.

          6                 Both children, too young according to

          7  New York law to consent to any sexual act, have been

          8  repeatedly raped and brutalized.  In the course of

          9  our representation of these children, we have seen

         10  firsthand the fear in their eyes, documented burn

         11  marks on their bodies, tattoos of names of pimps

         12  branded on their bodies, and other physical

         13  devastation received at the hands of pimps and

         14  johns.  It does not matter what the country of

         15  origin is. The sexual and physical trauma and loss

         16  of ability and will to escape are the same.

         17                 Under federal law, the child who is

         18  born in a foreign country is given the legal status

         19  of victim.  She is entitled to the full protection

         20  of the law, given safe housing and supportive

         21  services and protected and assisted throughout any

         22  criminal proceedings against those who have been

         23  commercially sexually exploiting her.  She has at

         24  her disposal federal agencies and any number of

         25  international organizations available to help in her
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          2  recovery.  But the child born in Brooklyn or Albany

          3  is considered in the eyes of New York State to have

          4  committed a criminal act subject to prosecution and

          5  detention.

          6                 Opponents of the Safe Harbor Act

          7  argue that children who have been the victims of

          8  commercial sexual exploitation must be locked up for

          9  their own protection, that, if not, they will run

         10  back to their pimps.  That simply is not true.  What

         11  is true is that they, like domestic violence victims

         12  and kidnapping victims, have through fear and

         13  subjugation, sometimes come to view their pimps as

         14  their protectors.

         15                 What is needed for these children is

         16  a safe, therapeutic environment where their sexual

         17  trauma can be addressed, and they can begin to heal

         18  free from the judgment and the stigma of having

         19  committed a criminal act.  The fact that children

         20  are arrested and locked up for an act of

         21  prostitution simply reinforces their view that they

         22  are bad and completes their feeling that they have

         23  little or no self worth.

         24                 Through the Safe Harbor Act, and

         25  without the additional trauma of having to be found
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          2  guilty of an act of prostitution, sexually exploited

          3  youth will be able to access both emergency safe

          4  houses and long- term residential treatment

          5  facilities that are solely designated for the care

          6  of sexually exploited children.  These safe homes

          7  will provide security to keep pimps and exploiters

          8  away and intensive crisis counseling to assist

          9  children with understanding the victimization and

         10  trauma that has occurred.  The safe houses will also

         11  provide victim assistance if the child becomes

         12  involved in the prosecution of a pimp or john,

         13  which, on a state level, may begin to happen once

         14  the threat of arrest and detention have been

         15  removed.

         16                 Currently, in federal prosecutions,

         17  child victims are not arrested or incarcerated but

         18  receive appropriate supportive services throughout

         19  the investigation and prosecution of pimps. The

         20  victim- centered nature of these investigations and

         21  prosecutions has encouraged several of our young

         22  clients to come forward and actively participate in

         23  federal prosecutions without fear of arrest or

         24  prosecution.

         25                 The Safe Harbor Act recognizes that
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          2  these vulnerable children are victims of a crime,

          3  not perpetrators.  The Safe Harbor Act also

          4  recognizes that victims of sexual exploitation need

          5  the protection and assistance of the Family Court by

          6  giving the Family Court jurisdiction over sexually

          7  exploited youth up to the age of 18 through a PINS

          8  proceeding.  Thus, although youths 16 through 18

          9  years of age can still be arrested and prosecuted

         10  for an act of prostitution, the Family Court would

         11  have dual jurisdiction, so that those youth would

         12  have access to the safe housing and services

         13  mandated by the Safe Harbor Act.

         14                 Under the current Family Court Act a

         15  12- year- old child who was the victim of sexual

         16  exploitation at the hands of a step- parent or

         17  family member is considered a victim.  A 12- year-

         18  old child who engaged in a sexual act with a 17-

         19  year- old is considered a victim based on her lack

         20  of capacity to consent because of her young age, but

         21  a 12- year- old child who is bought and sold by

         22  adults for sexual purposes is considered to have

         23  committed a criminal act. The Safe Harbor Act is

         24  necessary to begin to reconcile the inherent

         25  inconsistency of the law by clearly establishing
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          2  that all youth under the age of 16 will have been

          3  sexually abused or victims under the law.

          4                 The Legal Aid Society strongly

          5  supports the passage of the Safe Harbor Act, which

          6  creates the necessary services to help the young

          7  victims of commercial and sexual exploitation

          8  overcome their trauma and abuse in a safe, secure

          9  and appropriate environment.  We urge the City

         10  Council to pass Resolution 863 expressing support

         11  for this important legislation.  Thank you for your

         12  interest.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

         14                 MS. FARUQEE:  Good morning.  My name

         15  is Mishi Faruqee.  I'm Director of the Juvenile

         16  Justice Project at the Correctional Association of

         17  New York.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I want to

         19  apologize.  I'd like to introduce my colleague,

         20  Councilman Sanders, part of the Juvenile Justice

         21  Committee.  Thank you for being here.

         22                 MS. FARUQEE:  I want to thank the

         23  Juvenile Justice Committee and the Youth Services

         24  Committee, Councilwoman Sara Gonzalez for holding

         25  this Hearing today on this very important and often
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          2  overlooked topic of sexually exploited youth in New

          3  York City and New York State.

          4                 The last time the City Council held a

          5  Hearing on this issue was December, 2002, and I

          6  think over the last almost five years we've made a

          7  lot of progress in raising public awareness about

          8  this issue.  In December, 2002 it was a joint

          9  hearing of the Women's Issues Committee and the

         10  Public Safety Committee.  The New York City Police

         11  Department testified at that hearing that they

         12  estimated that there were approximately 15 underage

         13  youth who were sexually exploited in New York City.

         14  We've come a long way from that time.  We knew at

         15  that time that that number was ridiculously low, but

         16  we didn't have any reports or any statistics to

         17  document the number of sexually exploited youth in

         18  New York City.

         19                 People have referred to a study that

         20  just was released in April by the Office of Children

         21  and Family Services that points to nearly 3,000

         22  sexually exploited youth in the state, and, as Kate

         23  mentioned, due to the short time frame of that study

         24  and the methodology, the researchers actually

         25  weren't able to go out and directly talk to young
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          2  people who were sexually exploited, so they base

          3  their numbers and their estimates on surveys.

          4                 They surveyed detention centers,

          5  foster care facilities, runaway homeless youth

          6  shelters.  As Council Member Gonzalez, as you said,

          7  a lot of times young people will not disclose that

          8  they've been sexually exploited, so we believe that

          9  number is really an undercount because there's young

         10  people in detention centers, who are in foster care,

         11  who people who are working with them don't know that

         12  they were sexually exploited.

         13                 Then there's so many young people out

         14  there who haven't come in contact with public or

         15  private agencies, and those young people were also

         16  not included in the studies.  So the 3,000 gives us

         17  a sense of the problem, but we really believe it's

         18  just the tip of the iceberg.  John Jay College is

         19  actually conducting a more comprehensive study where

         20  they are interviewing sexually exploited youth.  So

         21  the numbers that they're getting of young people is

         22  showing a different picture.

         23                 I think the differences in the

         24  studies show how difficult and complex it is to try

         25  and quantify the issue of sexually exploited youth,
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          2  and to really get a full picture of who the children

          3  are who are sexually exploited.

          4                 We talked a little bit about the fact

          5  that these young people have the common experience

          6  is poverty, racism, and physical and sexual abuse.

          7  And that bears out in the study that OCFS recently

          8  released.

          9                 I'm not going to read the rest of my

         10  testimony because a lot of it has already been

         11  covered, but I just wanted to talk about the Safe

         12  Harbor Act a little bit.  We really would like to

         13  commend you, Council Member Gonzalez, for

         14  introducing the Resolution in support of the Safe

         15  Harbor Act.  We have nine days left before the end

         16  of the session, and the bill has already passed the

         17  Assembly, so right now it's in the Senate, so we

         18  really need all the support that we can get to make

         19  sure that this bill passes this year.  I feel like

         20  this is the year that we need to pass this bill.

         21                 You know, we've already heard people

         22  refer to the human trafficking bill, and there was

         23  discussion at one point to include the Safe Harbor

         24  Act within that package, within that legislation.

         25  Unfortunately, that didn't happen due to opposition
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          2  from the district attorneys.  So, unfortunately,

          3  there are some very powerful groups that have come

          4  out in opposition to the Safe Harbor Act, the

          5  District Attorneys, the New York State Association

          6  of Counties, as well as unfortunately the City of

          7  New York, the Mayor's Office has also come out

          8  opposing the Safe Harbor Act.

          9                 The reasons for their opposition I

         10  think, some of the reasons that people have cited I

         11  think really point to they need to form more public

         12  education on this issue.  There's some very

         13  disturbing attitudes that come out in the opposition

         14  to the Safe Harbor Act.  One example is the New York

         15  State Association of Counties, in their memo of

         16  opposition to the bill, they refer to sexually

         17  exploited children as "streetwise, sexually active

         18  young adults who do not obey rules or comply with

         19  authority" and are "on a current path that will

         20  likely lead to incarceration."  So I think the

         21  attitude is that these young people are not as

         22  deserving victims as victims of international

         23  trafficking or domestic violence victims.  So I

         24  think there is still a lot of public awareness and

         25  education that needs to be raised around this issue
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          2  of sexually exploited children in New York.

          3                 The bill, as I said, you know we have

          4  nine days left, and there has been a lot of

          5  momentum.  I mentioned the organizations that have

          6  come out against the bill, but there has been

          7  widespread support among the City Council, as well

          8  as we have received several editorials in the New

          9  York Times in support of the bill.  The Albany Times

         10  Union.  There's been supportive coverage on New York

         11  One News, WNYC Radio, the New York Sun, AM New York,

         12  several news outlets.

         13                 I just wanted to point out that this

         14  bill is very important because it does several

         15  things.  One, it creates the services that are

         16  needed for sexually exploited youth that don't exist

         17  now.  It creates a safe house.  It creates long-

         18  term housing. It creates crisis intervention, and it

         19  creates training for law enforcement, which is

         20  really critical.

         21                 One of the issues that has come out

         22  in that something that I think really needs more

         23  study and real attention to is that people who are

         24  supposed to be helping sexually exploited youth are

         25  often also victimizing them, so you know there has
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          2  been numerous reports of police officers forcing

          3  sexually exploited youth to have sex with them in

          4  exchange for not arresting them, or forcing them to

          5  have sex and then going ahead and still arresting

          6  them.  Detention workers, people who work in the

          7  Department of Juvenile Justice, verbally abusing and

          8  sometimes in some cases sexually abusing sexually

          9  exploited youth knowing their history and by knowing

         10  their history, these young people are more

         11  vulnerable, and they become exploited again once

         12  they're in the juvenile justice system, so there

         13  have been reports of young people, sexually

         14  exploited children being raped and abused inside the

         15  Office of Children and Family Services facilities as

         16  well as DJJ facilities.

         17                 So I think that the Safe Harbor Act

         18  is very important as a way to create the services,

         19  but also to raise public attention to this issue.

         20  There's still much more work that needs to be done

         21  even if we do pass the Safe Harbor Act.  As I said,

         22  we only have nine days left and it's becoming

         23  increasingly uncertain whether this bill will pass

         24  in this session and although we're hoping that it

         25  will and that we're doing everything that we can for
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          2  it to pass this session.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you so

          4  much for your testimony, and I just want to say

          5  thank you for your support as well.  I think if we

          6  did not have dysfunction, then we probably would not

          7  have this problem.  I think we need to definitely

          8  look into that and think about it.  The reality is

          9  that these are young people that have had at one

         10  extent or another some kind of dysfunction, as many

         11  of us have in our lives, despite the fact that we

         12  don't want to admit it.

         13                 So I think it's important that as

         14  clinicians, social workers, psychiatrists and

         15  psychologists and people that are experts in this

         16  area that they understand that these young people

         17  need to get the services that they deserve, so that

         18  their lives can get straightened out, so I certainly

         19  understand, and I thank you.  Councilman Sanders?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you,

         21  Madam Chair.  I just wanted to go on record as

         22  saying that I certainly support the Safe Harbor Act,

         23  and I urge my colleagues in the New York State

         24  Assembly to not only pass it but to see what they

         25  can do to even strengthen the bill.  I think it's
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          2  that important.  Thank you very much.

          3                 MS. FARUQEE:  And, please, your

          4  colleagues in the Senate as well because the bill

          5  has passed the Assembly, and now it's up to the

          6  Senate to pass it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Then I stand

          8  corrected.  I thought I said the Senate, but if I

          9  didn't, I certainly mean the Senate.  We have to get

         10  those together.  They should look into it, and then

         11  they should strengthen it, not weaken, not modify,

         12  but even strengthen.

         13                 MS. FARUQEE:  I just wanted to

         14  mention one thing too because the bill, it already

         15  has been weakened.  The bill that was originally

         16  introduced included 16- to 18-year-olds who would

         17  charged in Criminal Court and would amend the Penal

         18  Code, so those young people would not be charged

         19  with prostitution.  Unfortunately, the bill was

         20  narrowed to take out the 16- to 18-year-olds and

         21  only to change the Family Court Act, so young people

         22  under 16 would not be charged as juvenile

         23  delinquents, but could be adjudicated as a PINS, as

         24  Kate mentioned.  So there's still much more work to

         25  be done even if we're able to get the Safe Harbor
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          2  Act because 16, 17-year-olds are also being

          3  criminalized, and they will continue to be

          4  criminalized even if the Safe Harbor Act passes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Do you have

          6  sense of the size of the population of exploited

          7  youth in DJJ, secure and non- secure facilities?

          8  And if you don't have it, and you could get me

          9  numbers, that would be great.

         10                 MS. MULLEN:  I can tell you that the

         11  numbers of youth who are there on a charge of

         12  prostitution at the moment is very small.  For

         13  various reasons, NYPD has not been doing as many

         14  prostitution arrests as they historically have.

         15  However, that doesn't mean that there aren't a lot

         16  of youth who have been sexually exploited in DJJ

         17  care.  Of the young women who come into DJJ care for

         18  things like a false personation charge, a fair

         19  beating charge, a theft of services charge, all of

         20  those kids potentially have been sexually exploited

         21  youth, but they've been arrested for some other kind

         22  of minor crime.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, before

         24  we move on, I just want to introduce our colleague,

         25  Darlene Mealy, who's joined us.  She's a member of
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          2  the Criminal Justice Committee.  Thank you for

          3  joining us.

          4                 Do you have a sense of the size of

          5  the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender questionable

          6  population of exploited youth?

          7                 MS. MULLEN:  In terms of DJJ?  Or in

          8  terms of in general?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I would say in

         10  general, and if you have DJJ, that's great as well.

         11                 MS. MULLEN:  The population is I

         12  think finally beginning to be counted to some extent

         13  through the study that's being done through John Jay

         14  because they are doing street outreach that really

         15  works hard in identifying that population.  We don't

         16  have a good sense of numbers because they are rarely

         17  arrested by NYPD as youth under 16.  I think that

         18  there's a certain reluctance on the part of NYPD to

         19  do undercover operations that would have a man

         20  propositioning another man, so we don't have a lot

         21  of those numbers as arrests.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  That's really

         23  interesting.

         24                 MS. FARUQEE:  But we know through the

         25  organizations that we work with that there is a
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          2  considerable number of LGBT youth, particularly

          3  transyouth, who are sexually exploited, and I know

          4  that there's some people here from those

          5  organizations, and they might be testifying today to

          6  talk about that specific issue. But we know that the

          7  number of LGBT youth was really undercounted in the

          8  study that was released by OCFS, partially because

          9  many of the agencies that work with LGBT youth were

         10  not included in the surveys.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  One concern

         12  that has been raised regarding the Safe Harbor Act

         13  is that exploited youth are unlikely to cooperate

         14  with prosecutors and rat out pimps without the

         15  threat of detention or incarceration.  Do you agree

         16  with this contention?

         17                 MS. MULLEN:  I strongly disagree with

         18  that contention.  I represent a lot of young people

         19  who have been charged with prostitution, or who have

         20  been sexually exploited. Many of them have

         21  voluntarily agreed to work with the FBI in federal

         22  prosecutions because there is no threat of being

         23  arrested or being prosecuted for the same act of

         24  which they are being asked to be now a complaining a

         25  victim, so I think that is the absolute opposite is
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          2  true.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  What evidence

          4  is there that prosecuting sexually exploited youth

          5  re- traumatizes them and compounds the youth

          6  situation?  Is there any evidence that you're aware

          7  of?

          8                 MS. MULLEN:  The fact that when young

          9  people are arrested for prostitution, and prosecuted

         10  for prostitution, sent to the Office of Children and

         11  Family Services, and then after having done their

         12  time, are released at age 18, literally to

         13  homelessness, that's their discharge plan, and I

         14  think Council Member Gonzalez, I sat and testified

         15  at another hearing about girls in the juvenile

         16  justice system and mentioned that as a problem.

         17                 These young people frequently do not

         18  have a family structure or a home to return to.  So

         19  when they get put into OCFS custody and sentenced,

         20  they are kept up to 18, and then they are released

         21  and told to go to a woman's shelter, and the first

         22  thing happens when they go back is that they find

         23  someone else who is willing to prey upon them

         24  because they have no other options.  So the high

         25  recidivism rate of people that are coming out of OCF
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          2  care, as opposed to a much lower recidivism rate as

          3  opposed to a young person who has gone and

          4  cooperated with the GEMS program, and I know that

          5  they are going to be testifying here later today,

          6  but the recidivism rate for someone from a GEMS

          7  program is a fraction of that as someone who would

          8  have come out of OCFS.

          9                 MS. FARUQEE:  I just want to mention

         10  too that the Office of Children and Family Services

         11  does not offer any specialized service for sexually

         12  exploited youth right now, and the Department of

         13  Juvenile Justice doesn't as well.  GEMS, they will

         14  testify, but they go out and do outreach in the

         15  detention centers, but they're not paid by the City

         16  to do that.  They're doing that from their own

         17  expenses, and so there's currently the Juvenile

         18  Justice System is not providing any services to

         19  sexually exploited youth.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  How do you

         21  expect services such as crisis intervention to be

         22  administered under the Safe Harbor Act?

         23                 MS. MULLEN:  The service plan is

         24  twofold.  First of all, it requires the creation of

         25  an emergency safe house that would be most likely
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          2  licensed through DYCD with specially trained

          3  counselors to be available so that medical attention

          4  would be set up and therapeutic interventions would

          5  be available.  It would be in a location that is

          6  somewhat secure and outside of New York City, but so

          7  that New York City youngsters could be brought

          8  there.  It would be secure in the sense that pimps

          9  and exploiters would be kept out, and that there

         10  would be crisis intervention counselors there to

         11  talk to young people in terms of if they felt an

         12  urge that they wanted to leave to try and understand

         13  why they were feeling that urge and to try and help

         14  talk them through it.

         15                 There would also be the creation of a

         16  long- term residential center, which would be

         17  specifically designed for youth who have been

         18  sexually exploited, so that they could receive the

         19  therapeutic services and continue on that continuum

         20  of care without feeling as though they will be

         21  somehow targeted because of what had happened to

         22  them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you.  I

         24  believe we have some questions from Council Member

         25  Mealy.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Yes, I would

          3  like to say I support the Safe Harbor Act.  I was

          4  just wondering, how many CBO's target directly with

          5  exploited youth?  Do you know how many?

          6                 MS. FARUQEE:  Well, in terms of,

          7  there's one program, GEMS, that's really the only

          8  one that would exclusively focuses on sexually

          9  exploited youth.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  There are no

         11  other CBO's helping with this fight?

         12                 MS. FARUQEE:  I mean, there are other

         13  CBO's that work with sexually exploited youth.  They

         14  provide other services in the context that they also

         15  have sexually exploited youth in their populations,

         16  particularly LGBT youth organizations.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  In which they

         18  would have a counselor on staff, right?

         19                 MS. FARUQEE:  Right.  I think those

         20  organizations, and some of them are going to

         21  testify, they have counseling and because a lot of

         22  those young people that they work with have had this

         23  experience, they have specialized counseling for

         24  that group of young people.  But there is definitely

         25  not enough services for LGBT youth who have been
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          2  sexually exploited, particularly transyouth. There

          3  really aren't any interventions out there right now,

          4  so that's also a huge gap in services.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  I guess the

          6  Mayor announced last year about the Operation

          7  Guardian.  Has that came into fruition as of yet?

          8                 MS. MULLEN:  Yes, Operation Guardian

          9  is a program that started through funding through

         10  the Mayor's Office and the Queens District

         11  Attorney's Office.  It is a prosecutorial based

         12  program, which is aimed at prosecuting pimps and

         13  johns.  It has started, I don't know if there are

         14  any current cases going on right now, but it has

         15  started.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  How often do

         17  you work with the Brooklyn, or different DA's?  I

         18  see you only did Queens so far. What about Brooklyn

         19  DA?

         20                 MS. MULLEN:  You mean the Operation

         21  Guardian?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Yes.

         23                 MS. MULLEN:  That was funding that

         24  was set up for a pilot project.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Just a pilot
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          2  project?

          3                 MS. MULLEN:  Right, so it's exclusive

          4  to Queens. The Brooklyn DA's office also has a

          5  project that's of their own creation.  They have a

          6  Sex Crimes Unit that works on the issue as well.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Just to

          9  elaborate a little bit on what Council Member Mealy

         10  just said, the development of a new residential

         11  placement facility dedicated to providing shelter

         12  and services, are you familiar with whether that has

         13  gotten off the ground?

         14                 MS. FARUQEE:  That is not happening.

         15  The Mayor's Office I think for three or four years

         16  was exploring the possibility of creating a

         17  residential facility, and then came to the

         18  conclusion that it wasn't feasible for them to do

         19  that.  I think they are thinking about transferring

         20  some of that funding to the Office of Children and

         21  Family Services to provide services for young people

         22  who are already in state custody, who are in OCFS

         23  custody, children who have been sexually exploited,

         24  to provide some services for the young people in the

         25  OCFS system.  But there is currently no funding on
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          2  the table to create a long- term therapeutic

          3  residential treatment facility for sexually

          4  exploited youth, and that's a very critical piece of

          5  the continuum that's needed, so we're hoping that if

          6  the Safe Harbor Act passes, then we'll be able to

          7  put the funding in place to create a facility of

          8  that kind.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, so thank

         10  you, and I just want to say let's keep our thinking

         11  caps on because when it's passed, we'll have to have

         12  services.  Thank you.

         13                 MS. FARUQEE:  Thank you.

         14                 MS. MULLEN:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I think we

         16  need chairs. Tgesha Smith from GEMS, Patrice from

         17  GEMS, Rachel Lloyd from GEMS, please step forward

         18  and state your name for the record.

         19                 MS. LLOYD:  Rachel Lloyd, Executive

         20  Director and Founder of GEMS.

         21                 MS. SMITH:  Tgesha Smith, a GEMS

         22  member.

         23                 PATRICE:  I'm Patrice.

         24                 MS. LLOYD:  Good morning.  Thank you

         25  very much for holding this Hearing.  Mishi and Kate
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          2  both did an excellent job of describing the Safe

          3  Harbor Act and talking about the need for services.

          4  I just want to talk briefly, so I don't want to be

          5  redundant, but I do want to talk briefly about the

          6  work that GEMS does.  You've probably heard GEMS

          7  mentioned a couple of times already this morning.

          8                 GEMS is the only non- profit in New

          9  York State that works specifically with sexually

         10  exploited and domestically trafficked young women,

         11  ages 12 to 21.  We've heard some talk this morning

         12  about the trafficking legislation that's recently

         13  been passed, and I think one of the challenges for

         14  me at this point is that this is what we're seeing

         15  play out on state level is what we saw play out on a

         16  national level seven years ago.

         17                 In 2000, the Trafficking Victims

         18  Protection Act was passed and having been in this

         19  field as an advocate for many years, I, like many

         20  other people, were very excited that finally the

         21  issue of human trafficking was going to be

         22  recognized, and yet what the original trafficking

         23  legislation did was ultimately create two

         24  categories.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Excuse me a
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          2  minute.  Before you move on, could you just give me

          3  a little history.  How old is GEMS?  How did it come

          4  to be?  How did you get involved in it?

          5                 MS. LLOYD:  GEMS was founded in '99.

          6  I originally came to the states as a missionary

          7  working with adult women coming out of prostitution.

          8    I'm a survivor of sexual exploitation myself in

          9  Europe and came to the states and saw very young

         10  girls up in Riker's, up at Hunts Point and decided

         11  that I would start a non profit agency basically

         12  from scratch, and we've grown obviously a lot over

         13  the last eight and a half, nine years.

         14                 So when the Trafficking Victims

         15  Protection Act passed in 2000, essentially what it

         16  said was that there was two categories of victims.

         17  There were real victims of trafficking, which were

         18  international victims, and then there were teen

         19  prostitutes, the child prostitutes, and it did not

         20  address the issue of commercially sexually exploited

         21  or domestically trafficked children and youth in

         22  this country.  There was absolutely no funding

         23  provided.  In fact funding agencies requested that

         24  you could only count international victims through

         25  your outreach services or the services provided.
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          2  You weren't allowed to count domestic victims

          3  originally.  So we've seen over the last seven years

          4  fortunately the TVPRA, the Trafficking Victims

          5  Protection Act, which was re- authorized in 2005,

          6  and it did begin to address domestic trafficking

          7  victims.  A small chunk of money was allocated for

          8  that.  That still hasn't been distributed on any

          9  level, and so what we've seen happen in New York

         10  State.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I'm sorry.  I

         12  need to just step in here a little.  So what you're

         13  saying is that we're taking care of young people or

         14  people that really are not part of the City, which

         15  is fine, but I'm saying but we can't take of ours?

         16  That's what you're saying?

         17                 MS. LLOYD:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  And this is

         20  the only CBO that helps exploited youth?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  You could

         22  answer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  The only one?

         24                 MS. LLOYD:  Yes, ma'am.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Go ahead.

          3                 MS. LLOYD:  So what we've seen over

          4  the last few years is really this distinction, and

          5  GEMS has been around obviously for a lot longer than

          6  the trafficking legislation was passed, and each

          7  year we serve around 100 plus girls a year.  Last

          8  year we actually served 200 young women who were

          9  domestic trafficking victims who were sexually

         10  exploited, many of whom had been arrested for an act

         11  of prostitution, many of whom had spent time in DJJ

         12  or up in OCFS facilities.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I have to ask

         14  as I go along. These cases, are they duplicated?

         15  From the time you started, how many people from the

         16  time you started have you worked with?

         17                 MS. LLOYD:  We've served over 500

         18  girls since the time we started.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  And some of

         20  them are duplicated because they stay on for years?

         21                 MS. LLOYD:  Yes, because --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  How many would

         23  you say?

         24                 MS. LLOYD:  How many girls stay on?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Stay on like
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          2  two or three years, four years?

          3                 MS. LLOYD:  Probably about 100.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, so you

          5  would say the other four are people that have moved

          6  on?  Okay, thank you.

          7                 MS. LLOYD:  Obviously, through our

          8  outreach, we've been doing outreach since DJJ and

          9  into Horizons and Crossroads for the last eight

         10  years.  As someone mentioned, we are not funded by

         11  DJJ to do that.  We provided weekly groups and

         12  originally I was the person who ran that.  Now it's

         13  actually young women who have come through our

         14  program who originally were members of the GEMS

         15  program who had been in detention themselves who are

         16  now full- time staff outreach workers at GEMS and go

         17  out into the facilities and work with young women.

         18                 We see on average about 40 to 50

         19  percent of girls within DJJ care who have been

         20  sexually exploited again, like Kate said, most of

         21  those haven't necessarily been arrested for an act

         22  of prostitution, but have been arrested for other

         23  things, and through the group process when we're

         24  talking about sexual exploitation, those things come

         25  up.
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          2                 What we also see is the

          3  stigmatization of girls, and I probably can't say

          4  any of the words that they use towards girls in

          5  juvenile detention and residential facilities in a

          6  public hearing, but you can imagine some of the

          7  things that not only residents say but the staff say

          8  towards young women who have been sexually

          9  exploited.  We've definitely had cases that have

         10  even been prosecuted with staff members who have

         11  taken advantage of the fact that they know a young

         12  woman has been sexually exploited, and then sexually

         13  abused and raped her while she's in their care.

         14                 I think somebody had asked a question

         15  earlier about whether young people are going to be

         16  less likely to prosecute, and if we need the

         17  leverage of prosecution over a child's head in order

         18  to get them to testify against the pimp.  We've had

         19  several in the last year, three alone, successful

         20  cases, particularly with the FBI because, again, the

         21  girls know they're not going to be arrested.       What

         22  we've seen is that when young people are in a place

         23  where they can get support, where they can get

         24  treatment, where they can get counseling, that maybe

         25  not the first night or the first week, maybe not
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          2  even the first month, but within a few months a

          3  feeling like, wow, now I really recognize I was a

          4  victim. Now I recognize that this person who I

          5  really loved who I thought loved me maybe wasn't

          6  really loving me and was actually very abusive and

          7  cruel to me.  Now I'm actually ready to cooperate,

          8  and now I'm beginning to kind of take a stand and

          9  not want to be a victim anymore.

         10                 That generally doesn't happen when

         11  children are arrested and picked up on the streets,

         12  when they're handcuffed, when they are engaged in a

         13  conversation that is sexual with an undercover

         14  officer, and then they're taken to a juvenile

         15  justice facility where the staff make them feel like

         16  they're the ones who have done something wrong.  I

         17  mean, ultimately what we're doing is criminalizing

         18  children for their own victimization.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I just want to

         20  ask you because I just sort of process things as we

         21  go along, from your experience in doing this work,

         22  first of all, what kind of funding do you get?

         23                 MS. LLOYD:  Up until about a year and

         24  a half ago, we were pretty much privately funded.

         25  In the last year and a half obviously we got the
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          2  DYCD funding to open the Transitional Independent

          3  Living program.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  How many

          5  staff?

          6                 MS. LLOYD:  In the TIL program?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  No, how many

          8  staff in GEMS?

          9                 MS. LLOYD:  Thirteen full- time and

         10  nine part- time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  And that was

         12  being paid privately?  Volunteers?

         13                 MS. LLOYD:  No, we grew a lot in the

         14  last year and a half.  We received federal funding

         15  from OJJDP, DYCD and OCFS.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  What are the

         17  qualifications of staff?  Is it just commitment?  Is

         18  it understanding?  Is it credentials?  Degrees?

         19                 MS. LLOYD:  We're a survivor- led

         20  organization, and so five of our direct service

         21  staff are survivors, but we all also have degrees.

         22  We all have either a bachelor's or a master's

         23  degree.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  There's

         25  ongoing training?
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          2                 MS. LLOYD:  Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Is there

          4  outreach that's done by your organization?

          5                 MS. LLOYD:  Yes, we actually have a

          6  grant through the Office of Refugee and Resettlement

          7  for Victim Identification under Trafficking monies,

          8  so we have street outreach that goes out two, three

          9  nights a week.  We also have the outreach into

         10  juvenile detention, group homes.  We're in the

         11  Children's Center once a week, so we're doing

         12  outreach into places where we know young people are

         13  already vulnerable and at high risk for sexual

         14  exploitation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I have one

         16  more question.  In respect to your 500 people that

         17  you've dealt with for the last whatever years, do

         18  you have documentation?

         19                 MS. LLOYD:  Yes, ma'am.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Outcomes, and

         21  you measure outcomes?

         22                 MS. LLOYD:  We have a 72 percent

         23  success rate in helping girls exit sexual

         24  exploitation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  You know, the
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          2  reason I say this is because a lot of times we don't

          3  realize that there's a need for services, and a lot

          4  of us, I know from community- based organizations

          5  myself early on, you know, there wasn't always the

          6  documentation and the measuring and the outcomes,

          7  and this is the way you're funded.  People don't

          8  know you're doing the work unless you're actually

          9  documenting it.  It's so essential.

         10                 MS. LLOYD:  That was actually

         11  provided by an independent evaluator, I just want to

         12  add.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Excellent,

         14  excellent.  So you can continue.

         15                 MS. WATERS:  Hello, everyone.  My

         16  name is Patrice Waters.  My childhood was based on

         17  being taken advantage of when I was a child.  My

         18  mother never knew what happened.  I never talked

         19  about it.  I kept it to myself.  As I got older, at

         20  12 I ran away, I got raped.  I felt alone.  So I

         21  started in the life when I was 14.  I thought my

         22  pimp was going to protect me, but all he did was use

         23  me and beat me.  I had a bench warrant out on me.

         24  My law guardian referred me to GEMS, and they said

         25  it was a good program and that they could help me.
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          2  GEMS helped me realize that I was not alone.  They

          3  helped me with housing, transportation, health care,

          4  prenatal care when I was pregnant, and they also

          5  helped me with school.  They also helped me believe

          6  that I have support and love from my counselors.

          7                 I think that the law should be passed

          8  because I feel they shouldn't keep the sexually

          9  exploited teens should not be kept in jail.  They

         10  should get services for what they've been through. I

         11  was able to get those services without going to

         12  jail.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Patrice, I

         14  just want to understand.  I know that it's been

         15  difficult, and the trauma that you've suffered in

         16  your life and you're going to be better and more

         17  wonderful, and I thank you for being here because it

         18  means a lot to us.  But I want to understand, when

         19  you went to GEMS and you were approached by staff,

         20  what kind of comfort level was it?  Did you have a

         21  hard time opening up?

         22                 MS. WATERS:  Not at all.  I felt real

         23  comfortable. I felt like I wasn't alone.  I noticed

         24  a lot of girls that have been through the same

         25  things.  I felt the environment was real.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Conducive to

          3  you being able to express yourself.

          4                 MS. WATERS:  Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Whereas you

          6  hadn't been able to do that in the past.  Okay,

          7  thank you.

          8                 MS. SMITH:  My name is Tgesha Smith.

          9  I'm 17 years old.  As I grew up, I grew up through

         10  foster care systems and ACS. My mother was addicted

         11  to drugs, so I never really had a home to stay to,

         12  so I was always out on the streets.  At the age of

         13  12 my mother had passed away, and I left my house.

         14  I met a guy who had spoke to me and said he was

         15  going to help me get help and get a home.  Instead,

         16  I learned that he was a pimp and forced me into the

         17  game, and I was in the game since I was 12.

         18                 When I turned 15, I had caught a

         19  charge other than sexual exploitation, locked up for

         20  prostitution and while I was incarcerated in DJJ, I

         21  met GEMS through there, and they spoke.  But first

         22  when I came there, I've seen a lot of females come

         23  through for prostitution, and I never spoke about

         24  it, and I'd seen the staff sit there and talk about

         25  them and degrade them and make them feel low.  I've
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          2  seen male staff trying to talk to them and when GEMS

          3  came, we felt comfortable.

          4                 We spoke to them, and when I got

          5  released to GEMS, as just a program to go to, at

          6  first I thought GEMS, I didn't feel comfortable

          7  talking because I didn't know if they was going to

          8  treat us the same way that we got treated when we

          9  was locked up, and then I learned and realized that

         10  GEMS was there to help us break through what we've

         11  been through, and it wasn't just about being locked

         12  up and having to worry about what everybody else

         13  thought because everybody else was there for

         14  different reasons. Everybody in GEMS was there

         15  basically for the same thing, and we felt

         16  comfortable like everybody was a big family.

         17                 Then I went to RTC afterwards, and in

         18  the RTC I wasn't getting the same help that I was

         19  getting in GEMS, so I asked to come back to GEMS,

         20  and GEMS openly took me back into the TIL house

         21  because I was old enough to stay there, and I

         22  realized that we need more services to help us than

         23  just being locked up or RTC's because they don't

         24  understand the things that we've been through

         25  because everybody's up there for a different reason,
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          2  so they can't sit there and have a one- on- one

          3  support with us when they have other people there

          4  for other reasons.  Like GEMS has, we're all there

          5  for the same reasons, so they were able to support

          6  us the way we needed to be supported.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I want to

          8  thank you.  I want to commend you for your courage

          9  because sitting here in the City Council as a

         10  Council Member at times is nerve wracking, never

         11  mind coming and sharing from your heart and telling

         12  the truth about your life the hopes that it can

         13  change other lives, so I want to say thank you, and

         14  I want you to know that we're going to move forward

         15  with this.  We're going to do the best we can to

         16  support you.

         17                 I also want to say that, for GEMS,

         18  during the period that you deal with DJJ, do you

         19  case conference with them with any of the staff

         20  there?

         21                 MS. LLOYD:  We have on occasion, yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  It's not like

         23  a practice?

         24                 MS. LLOYD:  No.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  On occasion,
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          2  meaning you felt it was necessary, or they felt it

          3  was necessary?

          4                 MS. LLOYD:  We felt it was necessary.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, thank

          6  you for sharing that.  Council Member Sanders?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you,

          8  Madam Chair.  As a human being, as an African man,

          9  as a father of a daughter, I am outraged and

         10  appalled at the exploitation of anyone, especially

         11  my young sisters.  I think that we need to just

         12  continue to fight against this type of oppression to

         13  our last day to ensure that this horror does not

         14  continue.  This has to stop.  We need to do

         15  everything in our power to make sure it stops

         16  yesterday.  We need to use the fires that created

         17  us, that formed us, because it's part of our

         18  mission.

         19                 Our mission now is to make sure that

         20  we get to other folk and say, hey, look, you have

         21  options.  There are choices and that there are

         22  things that we can do about these things, that we

         23  don't have to stay victims, that we can use these

         24  things to create power and use that power to stop

         25  this madness yesterday, if not before.  Thank God
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          2  for GEMS and other organizations that are on the

          3  side of the angels.  Some of us in the City Council

          4  get it, and some of us we're fighting morning, noon

          5  and night to make sure that there's adequate money

          6  to deal with these problems and the problems that

          7  create these problems because all of this comes from

          8  somewhere, and there are things that we can do about

          9  it.  Just my heart responding.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you so

         11  much for your testimony.  Keep up the good work.

         12  Dorchen Leidholdt from Sanctuary for Families, David

         13  Nish from Safe Horizon and Jenny Gunnel from Family

         14  of Services.

         15                 Before we begin again, I just want to

         16  repeat our hearing is with Youth Services as well.

         17  Councilman Lou Fidler is in budget negotiations, as

         18  well as some of our colleagues that are not here

         19  today, so although this is a very significant issue,

         20  that's very significant as well what they're doing,

         21  so I'd just like us to continue and thank you.

         22  State your name for the record, thank you.

         23                 MS. LEIDHOLDT:  Dorchen Leidholdt,

         24  and I'm the Director of Sanctuary for Families,

         25  Center for Battered Women's Legal Services, and I'd
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          2  like to express my gratitude to you, Chairwoman

          3  Gonzalez and to the Committee on Juvenile Justice

          4  and the Committee on Youth Services for holding

          5  these very important hearings.

          6                 Since its inception in 1984,

          7  Sanctuary has provided shelter, counseling and legal

          8  representation and assistance to tens of thousands

          9  of victims of domestic violence, some of whom have

         10  been subjected to commercial sexual exploitation,

         11  including sex trafficking.  For some, this

         12  exploitation started when they were still in

         13  childhood.

         14                 Sanctuary for Families was one of the

         15  founding organizations of the New York State Anti-

         16  Trafficking Coalition, and advocated vigorously for

         17  a strong law against human trafficking in New York

         18  State.  While we are delighted at the passage of the

         19  law that was signed by Governor Spitzer on

         20  Wednesday, our work is far from complete.

         21                 As long as sexually exploited youth,

         22  victims of human trafficking by definition under the

         23  Federal Trafficking Victims Protection Act, are

         24  prosecuted as criminals rather than protected as

         25  victims, New York State is turning its back on these
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          2  children while aiding and abetting their exploiters.

          3    Sanctuary for Families and the New York State

          4  Anti- Trafficking Coalition join GEMS, the Legal Aid

          5  Society and the Correctional Association of New York

          6  in calling for the immediate passage of the Safe

          7  Harbor Act.

          8                 Just as battered women do not engage

          9  in domestic violence, as Sanctuary's landmark class

         10  action lawsuit, Nicholson v. Williams established,

         11  sexually exploited youth do not engage in

         12  prostitution.  They are brutally exploited by the

         13  adults who buy and sell them.  This reality is

         14  underscored by the fact that under the laws of this

         15  state children under 17 years of age cannot legally

         16  consent to sex.

         17                 Nonetheless, New York State continues

         18  to prosecute such youth, mostly girls, for

         19  prostitution and incarcerates them in juvenile

         20  prisons as delinquents rather than offering them

         21  safe housing and counseling as victims.  This, in

         22  spite of the fact that the overwhelming majority of

         23  sexually exploited children, an estimated 85

         24  percent, have had prior child welfare involvement

         25  typically related to child abuse and neglect.
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          2  Indeed, more often than not, it is sexual abuse in

          3  childhood that leads to the commercial sexual

          4  exploitation of girls and boys in adolescence.

          5  Having been abused by trusted adults, sexually

          6  exploited youth are further abused by pimps,

          7  pedophiles and traffickers who prey on their

          8  vulnerability, especially their need for caring and

          9  support. I just want to point out that those who are

         10  under the control of pimps, as many, if not most

         11  sexually exploited children are, are also the

         12  victims of intimate partner violence and need to be

         13  treated as such, provided the kinds of services that

         14  we have traditionally provided victims of domestic

         15  violence.

         16                 What these young people need are

         17  shelter, counseling and other services specifically

         18  tailored to help them escape abuse and heal, not

         19  stigmatization and re- victimization by our legal

         20  system.  Not only does juvenile detention often fail

         21  to provide counseling and support to sexually

         22  exploited children, it leaves them, as we've heard

         23  this morning in previous testimony, vulnerable to

         24  further abuse, stories about sexually exploited

         25  children being re- victimized in detention centers,
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          2  both by other juveniles and the staff charged with

          3  protecting them.

          4                 Instead of being stigmatized and

          5  punished, sexually exploited youth need counseling

          6  and health care to address the psychological and

          7  physical trauma they have suffered.  They need short

          8  and long- term housing to rebuild their lives safe

          9  from what Rachel Lloyd, the Executive Director of

         10  GEMS, calls psychological and physical kidnapping by

         11  pimps.  Above all, they need to know that society

         12  sees them not as criminals or as prostitutes, but as

         13  young people who, with the right kind of assistance,

         14  can overcome past hardship and victimization and

         15  realize their potential.

         16                 Passage of the Safe Harbor Act would

         17  help achieve these goals.  By amending the social

         18  services law, the Family Court Act and the Penal

         19  Law, this Act provides for the services and funding

         20  that sexually exploited children desperately need.

         21  To begin, it would eliminate the insidious practice

         22  of charging children under 16 with prostitution.

         23  Some have argued, as we've heard earlier, that the

         24  prostitution charges and imprisonment provide

         25  leverage and control necessary to induce prostituted
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          2  youth to testify against their pimps, but as a New

          3  York Times editorial recently pointed out, these

          4  vulnerable traumatized youth are often in no

          5  condition to confront their abusers in court.  Not

          6  only are counseling in a safe, supportive living

          7  environment infinitely better for their emotional

          8  and physical well- being, they are pre conditioned

          9  to the ability of sexually exploited youth to face

         10  their abusers in court.

         11                 I'm not going to further describe the

         12  Safe Harbor Act, but simply conclude by stating the

         13  commercial sexual exploitation of youth is a

         14  particularly egregious form of human trafficking

         15  that must be met with the aggressive prosecution of

         16  its perpetrators and sustained meaningful support

         17  and assistance for its victims.  Without the Safe

         18  Harbor Act, sexually exploited youth are punished as

         19  criminals, intensifying their trauma, isolation,

         20  stigmatization and vulnerability to continued abuse.

         21    With the Safe Harbor Act, sexually exploited

         22  children are properly identified as victims and

         23  provided the protection and support they need.

         24  Sanctuary for Families and the New York State Anti-

         25  Trafficking Coalition strongly urge New York City
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          2  Council to pass Resolution 863 in support of this

          3  urgently needed legislation.  Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

          5  State your name for the record, please.

          6                 MR. NISH:  Good morning.  My name is

          7  David Nish, and I'm the Associate Vice- President of

          8  Homeless Youth Services and all youth services at

          9  Safe Horizon.  I would like thank Chairperson Sara

         10  Gonzalez and the members of the Juvenile Justice

         11  Committee and Chairperson Lou Fidler and the members

         12  of the Youth Services Committee for inviting us here

         13  to testify today in support of Resolution 863 urging

         14  the state legislature to pass the Safe Harbor for

         15  Exploited Children Act.

         16                 Safe Horizon is New York City's

         17  leading non- profit victim assistance organization

         18  providing services to survivors of domestic

         19  violence, rape and sexual assault, children who are

         20  victims of physical and sexual abuse, families of

         21  homicide victims and victims of trafficking and

         22  stalking.  We welcome the assistance that the Safe

         23  Harbor for Exploited Children Act will provide for

         24  our extensive ongoing work with children and young

         25  people.
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          2                 Safe Horizon's Child Advocacy Centers

          3  are the only service for severely abused kids in the

          4  City and play a critical frontline role in

          5  responding to child physical and sexual abuse

          6  through expert multi- disciplinary coordinated

          7  investigation, treatment, management and prosecution

          8  of cases.  There has been a huge increase in the

          9  demand for services at our existing CACs in Brooklyn

         10  and Queens this past year.  Nearly 140 percent more

         11  cases were investigated than in the previous year.

         12  We are in the process of expanding CAC services to

         13  all five boroughs to address this growing need.

         14                 Our Streetwork programs, often the

         15  last stop for young people who have already been

         16  kicked out or suspended from other programs, offers

         17  support to homeless and street- involved young

         18  people in a non- judgmental style with the goal of

         19  helping them access services at their own pace.  The

         20  program works with youth who have run away from

         21  abusive family situations or slipped through the

         22  cracks of the group home/foster care system of New

         23  York City.  They've been physically abused, sexually

         24  abused and have experienced extreme trauma at the

         25  hands of people they were supposed to be able to
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          2  trust.  In addition, they're coping with a system

          3  that defines them as criminals.

          4                 Safe Horizon's anti- trafficking

          5  program is the largest provider of anti- trafficking

          6  services on the east coast, serving men and women,

          7  including young people, who come from almost 50

          8  countries and have been subjected to all forms of

          9  modern- day slavery.  Using a two- tiered approach,

         10  we provide direct services through intensive case

         11  management and legal advocacy, and we foster

         12  systemic change through training, advocacy and

         13  technical assistance.

         14                 The Safe Harbor for Exploited

         15  Children Act will provide young people with an

         16  alternative to the criminal justice system and an

         17  opportunity to be safe while they sort through the

         18  many problems they are coping with.

         19                 The Safe Harbor for Exploited

         20  Children Act will also provide a much needed shelter

         21  option for undocumented, trafficked youth and may be

         22  a possible point of identification for such youth.

         23                 Provisions included in the Safe

         24  Harbor for Exploited Children Act, a redefinition of

         25  terms that describe exploited children, the
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          2  development of Safe Harbor programming and training

          3  for law enforcement officials who encounter such

          4  youth, strengthen the community of providers that

          5  serve this difficult and in- need population of

          6  young people and give us all better tools with which

          7  to do our work.

          8                 I am very pleased to have this

          9  opportunity to speak in support of Resolution 863

         10  and will gladly answer any questions. Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Thank you for

         12  your support.

         13  You just said the Safe Harbor Exploited Children Act

         14  will also provide a much needed shelter option for

         15  undocumented.  How is that working with undocumented

         16  traffickers?

         17                 MR. NISH:  Well, just to back up for

         18  a moment, I think part of what I think needs to be

         19  clarified is that there are a lot of programs that

         20  provide services for young people who are sexually

         21  exploited, but being sexually exploited is one of a

         22  lot of issues that they are dealing with, so it's

         23  really kind of a comprehensive way of looking at it,

         24  and there are a lot of programs that are really not

         25  available to undocumented young people.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  I just want to

          3  be specific. They're not being victimized again even

          4  though they came over not on their own will, they're

          5  not being persecuted for coming over here and then

          6  being incarcerated, are they?

          7                 MR. NISH:  Absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  I wanted to

          9  clarify that. That is a problem.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, go

         11  ahead.  State your name for the record, please.

         12                 MS. GANNELL:  My name is Jenny

         13  Gannell (phonetic). Let me start by expressing my

         14  gratitude to the Chairs and the Council for holding

         15  this hearing and to the speakers this morning who

         16  have expressed their support of this resolution.  I

         17  support this measure for the same reasons outlined

         18  by previous speakers. However, my comments this

         19  morning will focus on GLBT youth, who are often

         20  overlooked when discussing issues of sexual

         21  exploitation.

         22                 I'm a licensed clinical social worker

         23  for Family of Services, a foster care agency in New

         24  York City.  Seven years ago, SCO opened a

         25  residential program for adolescents in foster care
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          2  who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual and

          3  transgender.  In addition, our program also serves

          4  the same youth who are completing sentences under

          5  OCFS.

          6                 Unfortunately, today many gay,

          7  lesbian and transgender youth face rejection and

          8  hostility from their families, schools and

          9  communities, resulting in extreme marginalization.

         10  GLBT youth are vastly disproportionately represented

         11  among homeless youth.  A recent study by the

         12  National Gay and Lesbian Task Force found that GLBT

         13  youth represent 40 percent of homeless youth.  With

         14  no other known options or recourse, many of these

         15  youths turn to sex for gain for money for housing,

         16  for food, for shelter, for hormones and for

         17  validation and acceptance.  Then, if arrested, they

         18  enter a criminal justice system in which they meet

         19  further harassment and marginalization, if not

         20  further sexual exploitation and violence.

         21                 Many of the youth who have entered

         22  our program over the past seven years have

         23  experienced this exact cycle.  Since other areas of

         24  law are wise enough to understand that youth are

         25  children and need to be protected as such, then it
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          2  is imperative that the issue of sexual exploitation

          3  also be included under this framework.  The so-

          4  called crimes that these youths are committing are

          5  crimes of survival and marginalization, and if we

          6  can really understand it as that, then it becomes

          7  clear that criminalizing them only serves to further

          8  marginalize and stigmatize them.

          9                 If we can truly understand that who

         10  we are talking about here are children, children who

         11  have suffered rejection, hostility, abuse and often

         12  significant and severe trauma, then it is incumbent

         13  upon us as adults of this society to do exactly what

         14  the Safe Harbor Act calls for, to develop a system

         15  of supportive services that will provide them with

         16  access to options and alternatives, many of which

         17  they have not yet known.

         18                 As this Act moves forward, it is

         19  critical that the Council be vigilant ensuring that

         20  the children discussed under this Act and the

         21  services developed for them include gay, lesbian and

         22  transgender youth in all its phases and that the

         23  services be designed and tailored to meet the

         24  specific needs of this group of youth.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you so
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          2  much, and I have a question for you in respect to

          3  the young people that you have encountered in your

          4  program.  Have you gotten any information in respect

          5  to DJJ, if they've been detained and how they were

          6  treated or anything like that?

          7                 MS. GANNELL:  Many of the young

          8  people in our program have been placed on community-

          9  based sentences, coming out of actually OCFS, and

         10  invariably they report issues of harassment, some

         11  sexual abuse, violence.  I work with Mishi and other

         12  providers here in a working group that addresses

         13  exactly those issues, and I don't know if there's

         14  going to be further testimony from them further

         15  documenting these concerns.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Would you say

         17  that there were a lot of them?

         18                 MS. GANNELL:  A lot of youth or a lot

         19  of?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  A large amount

         21  of people that have said the same thing in reference

         22  to DJJ?

         23                 MS. GANNELL:  Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay.  I think

         25  it's something that we're not pointing fingers.

                                                            93

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND YOUTH SERVICES

          2  What we're doing is looking to see where we have

          3  some problems and trying to address them.  It's

          4  really important even if it's one person, we need to

          5  look into it, so I thank you.  Thank you so much.

          6                 Susan Hazeldean from Urban Justice

          7  Center and Christopher Tan from Associates for

          8  Children, please step to the table.  Thank you.

          9  Advocates for Children, Christopher Tan.

         10                 MS. HAZELDEAN:  Good morning.  My

         11  name is Susan Hazeldean.  I'd just like to start by

         12  thanking you so much for the opportunity to speak on

         13  this incredibly important topic.  I'd like to thank

         14  Council Member Gonzalez and Council Member Fidler

         15  for convening this Hearing and all of you for giving

         16  me the chance to speak here.

         17                 As I said, my name is Susan

         18  Hazeldean, and I'm a staff attorney at the Peter

         19  Cicchino Youth Project of the Urban Justice Center.

         20  The Peter Cicchino Youth Project is dedicated to

         21  serving homeless and at- risk lesbian, gay, bisexual

         22  and transgender, or LGBT youth.  We provide free

         23  legal services for individual LGBT young people, as

         24  well as systemic advocacy for the LGBT youth

         25  community.
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          2                 We're housed at the Urban Justice

          3  Center and each week we travel to various drop- in

          4  centers and other community- based programs where

          5  homeless people congregate to offer our legal

          6  services and help for them.  We've helped hundreds

          7  of LGBT youth with legal problems like applying for

          8  legal immigration status, changing their names,

          9  fighting the termination of their public assistance

         10  benefits, or being wrongly turned down for

         11  disability benefits.

         12                 We also advocate for the LGBT youth

         13  community as a whole.  We want to make sure that

         14  LGBT young people who are in foster care, in group

         15  homes, in homeless shelters and other institutions

         16  are safe, and they're free from abuse,

         17  discrimination or harassment because of their sexual

         18  orientation or gender identity.

         19                 I'm here today to speak with you

         20  about Resolution 863, Council Member Gonzalez'

         21  Resolution in support of the Safe Harbor for

         22  Sexually Exploited Children Act.  This piece of

         23  legislation is vital to saving thousands of

         24  youngsters in New York from a life of sexual

         25  exploitation and abuse.  We believe it is
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          2  particularly important to protecting lesbian, gay,

          3  bisexual and transgender youth who are

          4  disproportionately likely to be involved in sex work

          5  and who face mistreatment and abuse in the juvenile

          6  justice system.

          7                 LGBT youth, as you well know, face

          8  rejection and violence at home, at school and in

          9  their communities.  This leads to high rates of

         10  truancy, substance abuse, running away and

         11  homelessness, all of which increase the likelihood

         12  of involvement in sexual exploitation.  One study

         13  found that 90 percent of LGBT youth reported hearing

         14  anti- gay slurs in their school, and more than a

         15  third of those young people said they heard them

         16  from teachers or other staff folks.  Another noted

         17  that 26 percent of LGBT youth are forced to leave

         18  home because of conflicts over their sexual

         19  orientation.

         20                 Nationally, between 25 and 40 percent

         21  of homeless young people are estimated to be LGBT

         22  youth, and as we all know, homelessness can force

         23  young people into sex work in order to provide for

         24  basic necessities while they're on the street.  One

         25  study by the Hetrick Martin Institute found that up
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          2  to half of the gay and bisexual young men forced out

          3  of their homes due to their sexual orientation were

          4  turning to prostitution in order to survive.  JGBT

          5  youth often face rampant discrimination when they go

          6  to apply for jobs and may have few employment

          7  opportunities outside of sex work.  This makes them

          8  particularly vulnerable to sexual exploitation.

          9                 Like all sexually exploited youth,

         10  LGBT young people involved in sex work, who come to

         11  the attention of the authorities, face arrest, jail

         12  and punishment through the juvenile justice system.

         13  Far from helping these children re- build their

         14  lives, rehabilitate themselves and get on the path

         15  to a secure future, the current system is failing

         16  sexually exploited LGBT youth.  Not only is there no

         17  treatment to help sexually exploited LGBT children

         18  in the juvenile justice system cope with the trauma

         19  they've experienced, these youth are struggling to

         20  survive in a culture of rampant discrimination and

         21  harassment.

         22                 Although LGBT youth constitute a

         23  significant percentage of the young people held in

         24  juvenile justice facilities, the Office of Children

         25  and Family Services has no anti discrimination
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          2  policy regarding sexual orientation and gender

          3  identity, and they have no comprehensive staff

          4  training on how to deal with homophobia or any

          5  systemwide protocol to protect LGBT young people.

          6  LGBT youth report being slapped, hit, punched,

          7  kicked, threatened and called names by other

          8  residents in juvenile justice facilities.  Not only

          9  have staff members failed to prevent these

         10  incidents, some young people reported it was a staff

         11  person who abused or assaulted them.

         12                 I would like to talk with you about

         13  one young woman who is a client of mine, who I'm

         14  never going to forget.  I'm going to call this

         15  client Maria.  Maria was 16- years old when I met

         16  her. She was transgender.  Her Birth Certificate

         17  said she was male, but Maria had always felt like a

         18  young girl from an early age.  Growing up, Maria

         19  faced tremendous discrimination and abuse because of

         20  who she was.  Eventually, she ended up in foster

         21  care.

         22                 Like many LGBT young people, Maria

         23  got involved in sex work.  When she was just 14 and

         24  15, she was out on the street at all hours of the

         25  night having sex with 40 and 50- year old men for
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          2  money.  At 15, Maria got arrested, and at 16 she was

          3  sent upstate to a boy's juvenile detention facility.

          4    The verbal harassment, physical violence and

          5  sexual abuse that Maria suffered in that program is

          6  unbelievable.

          7                 She wrote me letters from there that

          8  were filled with desperation and pain.  Some of the

          9  language that Maria used to describe the ordeal that

         10  she experienced is very explicit.  I'm not sure it's

         11  appropriate for this Hearing, but I do want to note

         12  that staff people verbally harassed her, they called

         13  her names like faggot.  They dehumanized her and

         14  degraded her every day that she was there.

         15                 One of the letters that Maria sent me

         16  said, "I fear that Tryon is way beyond uncomfortable

         17  for me now.  It's unsafe and it's mentally

         18  challenging for me.  I was put on suicide watch this

         19  week.  Things are spinning out of control, and I am

         20  in the middle of it."  Not surprisingly, Maria

         21  didn't get any treatment to address the reasons she

         22  had gone into sex work or to help her heal from the

         23  trauma of being sexually exploited.

         24                 When Maria was finally released, she

         25  went right back to selling her body on the street.
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          2  In 2003, a friend of Maria's saw her get into a car

          3  with a strange man late at night in the West

          4  Village.  No one has seen Maria or heard from her

          5  since.  She remains missing and is presumed dead.

          6                 Maria's story is absolutely tragic,

          7  but unfortunately it's not unique.  When we talk

          8  about children being involved in sexual

          9  exploitation, we are literally talking about a

         10  matter of life or death.  If Maria had come to the

         11  attention of the authorities when the Safe Harbor

         12  for Sexually Exploited Children Act had been in

         13  effect, she might not have been locked up in an

         14  abusive, hostile environment where there was no

         15  treatment or help for her.  She might have had

         16  access to services targeting to her needs as a young

         17  transgender woman with a history of sexual

         18  exploitation.  And most importantly, she might be

         19  alive and with us today.

         20                 The Safe Harbor for Sexually

         21  Exploited Children Act would create crisis

         22  intervention, counseling and emergency and long-

         23  term housing services for children like Maria.  It

         24  would mandate the creation of services specifically

         25  targeted to especially vulnerable populations by

                                                            100

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND YOUTH SERVICES

          2  LGBT youth.  It's a vital piece of legislation, and

          3  I urge you to vote for this Resolution in support of

          4  it.  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you, and

          6  I want to say thank you for supporting Resolution

          7  863, and I'd like to take this moment to say to

          8  Assemblyman Scarborough at State Assembly and also

          9  Senator Volker for supporting and caring in respect

         10  to their role with this legislation.  I think we

         11  need to continue to lobby and hope that this gets

         12  done, but in respect to the Council, I'd like to let

         13  you know that a lot of our colleagues have stepped

         14  to the plate thus far, so we're going to move along

         15  with this.  We clearly understand there's a real

         16  need for the Safe Harbor for Exploited Children Act,

         17  which would create a continuum of services, services

         18  that are so necessary.

         19                 I also just want to say to you and to

         20  everyone here that as Chair of the Juvenile Justice

         21  Committee, which has oversight to the Department of

         22  Juvenile Justice, I certainly will have having

         23  conversations and continue to explore.

         24                 Thus far, my experience with DJJ has

         25  been that they have been very diligent and
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          2  respecting each and every time that we've requested

          3  things or worked with them, and I expect that they

          4  will understand that sometimes we don't know that

          5  things are going on, and when we do know, we have to

          6  investigate and look into it and see why it's

          7  happening.

          8                 So like with any entity, any

          9  organization, and I say this throughout my district,

         10  there's always rotten apples everywhere, so we have

         11  to see where these rotten apples, and we have to

         12  make sure that they're either phased out or that we

         13  correct the problem.  That's our responsibility.

         14                 So I thank each and every one of you

         15  for attending today, and I'd like to, first of all,

         16  thank our attorney, Liz Dubin and William Hongach,

         17  our Policy Analyst for the Committee and also our

         18  staff, Elisa Chae and Jenn Culp and Michael

         19  Benjamin, who have been so instrumental from the

         20  Youth Committee, which is a committee I am a member

         21  of.  Without their cooperation, their support, this

         22  whole research and all this with the legislation

         23  would not happen because, as much as we want to do

         24  everything, we certainly need them.  They're the

         25  reason that we get our work done even better, so I
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          2  thank them.

          3                 And I thank you, so thank you.

          4  Meeting adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 11:54 a.m.)
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          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, DEBORAH RICHARDS, do hereby

         10  certify that the foregoing is a true and accurate

         11  transcript of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 11th day of June 2007.
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